
SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Tuesday 25 October 2022 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Virtual 
 

 
 
 

CPH Climate Change, Planning & 
Housing Decision Session  

 

Public Document Pack



Disclosing Pecuniary Interests - What Must You Do? 

 

 (a) You must complete a declaration of your disclosable pecuniary interests, including those of 
your spouse/civil partner (or someone with whom you are living as such) and send it to the 
Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your election or appointment to the Council. 

(b)  When you attend a meeting of the Council, Cabinet, Scrutiny Board, Committee, Sub-
Committee or Joint Committee etc, and a matter arises in which you have a disclosable pecuniary 
interest, unless you have been granted a dispensation, you must: 

 Declare the interest if you have not already registered it 

 Not participate in any discussion or vote 

 Leave the meeting room until the matter has been dealt with 

 Give written notice of any unregistered interest to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of 
the meeting 

(c) If you are the Leader or a Cabinet Portfolio Holder you may not exercise any of your 
delegated powers as a single member in relation to a matter in which you have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or take any other step except to give written notice of any unregistered interest 
to the Monitoring Officer within 28 days of your becoming aware of the interest, or arrange for 
another person or body to deal with the matter. 

 

Disclosable Interest 

 

Description 

Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation 

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain by you 
or your partner. 

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the Council) 
made or provided within 12 months of your declaration of interests in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your election 
expenses. 

Contracts Any contract between you or your partner (or a firm or body corporate in which you or 
your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities of which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest)) and the Council  
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Council and which gives you 
or your partner a right to occupy the land or receive income. 

Licences Any licence held by you or your partner (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the Council for a month or longer. 

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the Council; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial interest i.e. a firm or 
body corporate in which you or your partner is a partner or a director, or in the securities 
of which you or your partner has a beneficial interest. 

Securities Any beneficial interest held by you or your partner in securities of a body where— 
 
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of the 
Council; and 
(b) either— 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that 
class. 

“securities” means shares, debentures, debenture stock, loan stock, bonds, units of a 
collective investment scheme within the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets 
Act 2000 and other securities of any description, other than money deposited with a 
building society. 



 
  

SOLIHULL METROPOLITAN  
BOROUGH COUNCIL 



 
To: 
Councillors A Mackiewicz, R Long and 
S Caudwell 
 

 
NICK PAGE 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
Council House, Manor Square 
Solihull, West Midlands. B91 3QB 
Tel. 0121 704 6000  
 
Paul Rogers 
Tel: 0121 704 6500 
Email: paul.rogers@solihull.gov.uk 
 
Date: Tuesday 1 November 2022 
 

 
CPH CLIMATE CHANGE, PLANNING & HOUSING DECISION SESSION  

 
 Tuesday 25 October 2022 

 
AGENDA 

 

1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests and conflicts of 
interest from Members. 
 

3.  QUESTIONS AND DEPUTATIONS  
 

4.  FIRST HOMES - NEW AFFORDABLE HOUSING TENURE AND LOCAL 
CONNECTION CRITERIA (Pages 5 - 20) 
 

To inform the Cabinet Member of a new affordable housing tenure in the form of 
'First Homes', approve local connection criteria for Solihull and agree to receive 
a further report on outcomes of the local approach. 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Meeting date: 
 
Report to: 
 
 
Report title:  
 
 
Report from: 
 
 
Report author/lead 
contact officer:   
 

25 October 2022 
 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, Planning and 
Housing 
 
First Homes - New affordable housing tenure and local connection 
criteria  
 
Alison McGrory, Assistant Director (Communities and 
Partnerships)  
 
Mark Collyer – Housing Strategy Officer for Affordable Housing 
mcollyer@solihull.gov.uk

 
Wards affected:  

☒ All Wards | ☐ Bickenhill | ☐ Blythe | ☐ Castle Bromwich | ☐ Chelmsley Wood | 

☐ Dorridge/Hockley Heath | ☐ Elmdon | ☐ Kingshurst/Fordbridge | ☐ Knowle | 

☐ Lyndon | ☐ Meriden | ☐ Olton | ☐ Shirley East | ☐ Shirley South | 

☐ Shirley West | ☐ Silhill | ☐ Smith’s Wood | ☐ St Alphege 

 

 
Public/private 
report: 
 

Public 

  

 
1. Executive Summary 

1.1 To inform the Cabinet Member of a new affordable housing tenure in the form of ‘First 
Homes’, approve local connection criteria for Solihull and agree to receive a further 
report on outcomes of the local approach. 
 

1.2 On 24th May 2021, the Government published a Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) 
setting out its plans for the delivery of First Homes, defining the product and changes 
to planning policies. First Home is a property that must be sold at least 30% below the 
open market value. The discounted price at first sale must not exceed £250,000 and 
must be sold to a first-time buyer. 

1.3 The Government’s guidance states that local authorities can apply local connection 
criteria to help local people have priority in their area. PPG states any local eligibility 
criteria will apply for a maximum of 3 months from when a First Home is first 
marketed. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



1.4 It is recommended to introduce Solihull Local Connection Criteria for first homes as 
set out in paragraph 4.6 to 4.16 of the main report. 

1.5 It is also recommended that the Cabinet member receives a further report reviewing 
the outcomes of the local approach to First Homes in Solihull after the first 5 schemes 
or 20 units are delivered, whichever comes first.  
 

1.6 Social rented housing is important to the borough in that it meets high priority housing 
need, including the Council’s statutory housing and homelessness duties. 
It should be note that Paragraph 15 of NPPF states “Once a minimum of 25% of First 
Homes has been accounted for, social rent should be delivered in the same 
percentage as set out in the local plan.” 
 

1.7 The Council’s proposed policy in the draft Local Plan specifies that the affordable 
tenure mix to meet the identified need in Solihull should be 65% social rent and 35% 
shared ownership.  Therefore, the amount of social rent housing that is delivered in 
Solihull will not be affected by the introduction of First Homes through the Written 
Ministerial Statement, the national planning policy changes or though the introduction 
of local connection criteria for Solihull. 

2. Decision(s) Recommended 

2.1 The Cabinet Member is asked to: 

2.2 Approve the local connection criteria as set out paragraphs 4.6 to 4.16 of the main 
report. 

2.3 Receive a further report reviewing the outcomes of the local approach to First Homes 
in Solihull after the first 5 schemes or 20 units are delivered, whichever comes first.  

 

 

Page 6



Report Title: First Homes - New affordable housing tenure and local connection 
criteria 

 
3. Matters for Consideration  

3.1 On 24th May 2021, the Government published a Written Ministerial Statement (WMS) 
setting out its plans for the delivery of First Homes, defining the product and changes 
to planning policy. This was accompanied by changes to the Planning Practice 
Guidance (PPG) that sets out that First Homes meet the definition of affordable 
housing for planning purposes as well as other changes to facilitate the delivery of 
First Homes. 

3.2 PPG states that a First Home is a property that must be sold at least 30% below the 
open market value. The discounted price at first sale must not exceed £250,000 and 
must be sold to a first-time buyer. The price cap of £250,000 only applies on the initial 
sale.  The discount is secured in perpetuity through a legal agreement, which also 
states it must be the buyer’s main residence.  Appendix A, paragraph 1 provides the 
full criteria) 

3.3 PPG (Appendix A, paragraph 4,) does give local authorities the discretion to require a 
higher minimum discount of either 40% or 50% but states any local price caps should 
be determined through the Local Plan making process. These higher discounts should 
only be used if evidence demonstrates a need for First Homes at a particular price 
point taking into account local income levels, local house prices and mortgage 
requirements. Therefore, these higher discounts should apply to the entire Local Plan 
area and cannot be set on a site-by-site basis. 

3.4 PPG (Appendix A, paragraph 7) states that First Homes are designed to allow people 
to get on the housing ladder and introduced national eligibility criteria. A purchaser (or, 
if a joint purchase, all the purchasers) of a First Home should be a first-time buyer (as 
defined in paragraph 6 of schedule 6ZA of the Finance Act 2003 for the purposes of 
Stamp Duty Relief for first-time buyers).  Purchasers of First Homes, whether 
individuals, couples or groups of purchasers, should have a combined annual 
household income not exceeding £80,000 in the tax year immediately preceding the 
year of purchase.  A purchaser of a First Home should have a mortgage or home 
purchase plan (if required to comply with Islamic law) to fund a minimum of 50% of the 
discounted purchase price. These national standard criteria should also apply at all 
future sales of a First Home. 

3.5 The Government’s guidance states that local authorities can apply local connection 
criteria to help local people have priority in their area. PPG states any local eligibility 
criteria will apply for a maximum of 3 months from when a First Home is first 
marketed. If a suitable buyer has not reserved a home after 3 months, the eligibility 
criteria will revert to the national criteria. 

3.6 The Written Ministerial Statement advises First Homes are the Government’s 
preferred discounted market tenure and PPG states they should account for at least 
25% of all affordable housing units delivered by developers through planning 
obligations.   However, Solihull will benefit from the PPG transitional arrangements 
given the advanced stage of the Local Plan Review. 

Page 7



3.7 PPG on First Homes (Appendix A, Paragraph 19) also states that First homes do not 
need to be included in the draft Solihull Local Plan (that is still going through 
examination) until it is reviewed again.  This will be the time when the need for any 
changes due to local circumstances is decided.  This however must also be done in 
the context of an overall borough-wide housing needs assessment, overall viability of 
the plan and tested through an Examination in Public. 

3.8 There are now several affordable home ownership options for people.  For Members 
background only, these are set out in Appendix B - Affordable Home Ownership Guide 
April 2022.  Which one is best for a household depends on their individual 
circumstances and personal choices.   

4. What options have been considered and what is the evidence telling us about 
them? 

4.1 The Solihull Local Plan review is at an advanced stage with the Examination in Public 
in progress and hearing sessions held between September 2021 and July 2022.  
NPPF (National Planning Policy Framework) identifies that affordable housing is a 
strategic policy and Local Plans should set out an overall strategy for the scale and 
make sufficient provision for housing. Paragraph 61 of NPPF makes it clear that these 
policies should be justified by evidence through a local housing needs assessment. 
The Council commissioned an independent HEDNA (Housing and Economic 
Development Needs Assessment) which reported in 2020 and this assessed the 
borough’s affordable housing needs. 

4.2 The Council’s proposed policy in the draft Local Plan specifies that the affordable 
tenure mix to meet the identified need in Solihull should be 65% social rent and 35% 
shared ownership.  The HEDNA notes that open market discount housing at 20% 
does not meet any identified housing need in Solihull due to high house prices and 
income levels. 

4.3 Social rented housing is important to the borough in that it meets high priority housing 
need, including the Council’s statutory housing and homelessness duties. 

4.4 Paragraph 15 of NPPF states “Once a minimum of 25% of First Homes has been 
accounted for, social rent should be delivered in the same percentage as set out in the 
local plan. The remainder of the affordable housing tenures should be delivered in line 
with the proportions set out in the local plan policy.”  This is welcome and it should be 
noted that the introduction of First Homes will not affect the amount of social rented 
housing provided in Solihull. 

4.5 Although the Council benefits from these transitional arrangements with regards to the 
Local Plan, the Council is directed by PPG to work with developers in a flexible way 
and should consider accepting First Homes as an alternative type of affordable tenure.  
Initial Discussions with developers and landowners so far have indicated a preference 
to provide shared ownership in line with the Council’s Local Plan Policy. 

4.6 However, it is recommended to introduce Solihull Local Connection Criteria for First 
Homes as follows: 

4.7 Have a close association with Solihull which will be established if the applicant, or a 

Page 8



member of their household: 

4.8 a) Is currently resident in the borough and has been for the two years immediately 
prior to their application in accommodation that was of their own choice; 

4.9 b) Has lived in the borough of Solihull for at least three of the last five years in 
accommodation that was of their own choice; 

4.10 c) Has close relatives who have been living in the borough for at least five years 
(close relatives means parents, adult children or brothers and sisters); 

4.11 d) Has employment in the borough (meaning the actual physical place of work rather 
than, for example, the location of the employer’s head office) and which is ongoing 
and regular and has been for at least the last 6 months; 

4.12 e) Special circumstances – a close association established on these grounds is likely 
to be exceptional e.g. the need to be near special medical or support services which 
are available only in the Solihull area; able to demonstrate that they or their family 
face life threatening crisis and require immediate rehousing as a consequence of fire, 
flood or a child protection emergency; 

4.13 f) A child leaving the care of Solihull Council and up to the age of 25 will have a close 
association to Solihull. 

4.14 The applicant must be able to prove that they meet at least one of these 
circumstances. 

4.15 In recognition of the unique circumstances of the Armed Forces, local connection 
criteria will be disapplied for all active members of the Armed Forces, 
divorced/separated spouses or civil partners of current members of the Armed Forces, 
spouses or civil partners of a deceased member of the armed forces (if their death 
was wholly or partly caused by their service) and veterans within 5 years of leaving 
the armed forces. 

4.16 These Solihull local connection criteria will apply for 3 months from when a home is 
first marketed. 

4.17 It is also recommended that the Cabinet member receives a further report reviewing 
the outcomes of the local approach to First Homes in Solihull after the first 5 schemes 
or 20 units are delivered, whichever comes first.  

5. Reasons for recommending preferred option 

5.1 PPG guidance on First Homes advises the Council should work flexibly with 
developers.  Having these local connection criteria in place will create certainty for 
developers if they choose to promote First Homes as part of a planning proposal. 

5.2 Through any subsequent review of the Solihull Local Plan, the national minimum 
discount of 30% of the market value will be reviewed to consider if a higher discount of 
either 40% or 50% should be applied to the sale of First Homes in Solihull.  Under 
Planning Policy Guidance, it is not possible to do this at this time, due to the need for 
a new overall borough wide housing needs assessment and review of viability taking 

Page 9



into account all Local Plan policies.  Given the advanced stage of the Examination in 
Public, this is not recommended. 

5.3 The Council could consider not to introduce not to introduce Local Connection criteria 
although this would reduce the benefit to local people as only the national eligibility 
criteria would apply. 

6. Implications and Considerations 

6.1 State how the proposals in this report contribute to the priorities in the Council Plan: 

Priority: Contribution: 

People and Communities: 

1. Improving outcomes for children and 
young people in Solihull. 

2. Good quality, responsive, and dignified 
care and support for Adults in Solihull 
when they need it. 

3. Take action to improve life chances and 
health outcomes in our most 
disadvantaged communities. 

4. Enable communities to thrive. 

Affordable Housing provides a sustainable 
and secure housing option for those in 
housing need and therefore improves the 
outcomes for children and young people.   

Economy: 

5. Develop and promote the borough’s 
economy, with a focus on revitalising 
our town and local centres. 

6. Maximising the opportunities of UK 
Central and HS2. 

7. Increase the supply of affordable and 
social housing that is environmentally 
sustainable. 

A Council Plan priority is to promote 
pathways to affordable home ownership to 
help local people onto the housing ladder. 

Environment: 

8. Enhance our natural environment, 
improve air quality and reduce net 
carbon emissions. 

All planning applications received by the 
Council are assessed against the Council’s 
Local Plan and they are required to meet 
the requirements of the climate change and 
sustainability policies to ensure that new 
development is energy efficient. 

9. Promote employee wellbeing The key worker criteria will be an additional 
benefit for those Solihull Council employees 
(including school employees). 

Page 10

https://www.solihull.gov.uk/About-the-Council/The-Council-plan


6.2 Consultation and Scrutiny: 

6.2.1 This proposal has not been directly considered by Scrutiny Board, but previous 
reports to the Economic Development and Managed Growth Scrutiny Board have 
confirmed the importance of delivering more affordable homes. 

6.3 Financial implications: 

6.3.1 The capital costs of providing First Homes will be delivered mainly via developer 
contributions secured by a legal agreement.  

6.4 Legal implications: 

6.4.1 The Written Ministerial Statement of 21 May 2021 on First Homes and subsequent 
updated NPPF and PPG are material planning considerations. 

6.4.2 The government has provided a template S106 agreement which incorporates the 
additional clauses required for First Homes.  

6.5 Risk implications, including Risk Appetite: 

6.5.1 The introduction of First Homes may have an implication on Council staff resources. 

6.5.2 There may be implications on staff time in respect of approving the eligibility of first-
time buyers seeking to buy First Home properties and dealing with complaints 
regarding valuations and eligibility. The extent of this will depend on the number of 
units delivered, however over time, if all affordable housing secured through includes 
25% First Homes, this could be substantial.  

6.6 Equality implications: 

6.6.1 A Fair Treatment Assessment has been completed.  Paragraph 15 of PPG states 
“Once a minimum of 25% of First Homes has been accounted for, social rent should 
be delivered in the same percentage as set out in the local plan. The remainder of the 
affordable housing tenures should be delivered in line with the proportions set out in 
the local plan policy.”  Therefore First Homes will not be at the expense of those in 
need of social rented housing including those in priority need for housing and those 
households who are homelessness and the Council has an obligation to house. 

6.6.2 The likely impact of the provision of First Homes is considered beneficial in so much 
as the scheme would provide additional opportunities for local people to purchase 
suitable affordable homes. 

6.7 Linkages to our work with the West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA), Local 
Enterprise Partnership or the Birmingham & Solihull Integrated Care System (ICS): 

6.7.1 The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) has introduced a localised definition 
of affordable housing, linking the definition to incomes of people in the area and local 
house prices. 

Page 11



6.7.2 The new definition, which has been approved by the WMCA’s Housing and Land 
Board, is based on local people paying no more than 35% of their salary on 
mortgages or rent.   

7. List of appendices referred to 

7.1 Appendix A - Planning Policy Guidance key exerts 

7.2 Appendix B - Affordable Home Ownership Guide April 2022 

8. Background papers used to compile this report 

8.1 None. 

9. List of Other Relevant Documents 

9.1 None. 

Page 12



 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, Planning and Housing - 25 October 2022 

 
First Homes - Appendix A  
 
Planning Policy Guidance key exerts  
 
The full PPG is available here: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes 
 
National definition of definition of First Homes. 

 
Paragraph 1 - What is a First Home? 

 
First Homes are a specific kind of discounted market sale housing and should be considered 
to meet the definition of ‘affordable housing’ for planning purposes. Specifically, First Homes 
are discounted market sale units which: 

 
a) must be discounted by a minimum of 30% against the market value; 

 
b) are sold to a person or persons meeting the First Homes eligibility criteria (see below); 

 
c) on their first sale, will have a restriction registered on the title at HM Land Registry to 
ensure this discount (as a percentage of current market value) and certain other restrictions 
are passed on at each subsequent title transfer; and, 

 
d) after the discount has been applied, the first sale must be at a price no higher than 
£250,000 (or £420,000 in Greater London). 

 
First Homes are the government’s preferred discounted market tenure and should account 
for at least 25% of all affordable housing units delivered by developers through planning 
obligations. 

 
Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 70-001-20210524 

 
Paragraph 4 - Can the required minimum discount be changed? 
 

In order to qualify as a First Home, a property must be sold at least 30% below the open 
market value. Therefore, the required minimum discount cannot be below 30%. 

 
However, the First Homes Written Ministerial Statement does give local authorities and 
neighbourhood planning groups the discretion to require a higher minimum discount of 
either 40% or 50% if they can demonstrate a need for this. As part of their plan-making 
process, local planning authorities should undertake a housing need assessment to take into 
account the need for a range of housing types and tenures, including various affordable 
housing tenures (such as First Homes). Specific demographic data is available on open data 
communities which can be used to inform this process. The assessment will enable an 
evidence-based planning judgement to be made about the need for a higher minimum 
discount level in the area, and how it can meet the needs of different demographic and social 
groups. 

 

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes


In such circumstances, the minimum discount level should be fixed at either 40% or 50% 
below market value and should not be set at any other value. In each case, these 
percentages represent the minimum discount required for a home to qualify as a First Home. 
Developers who are able to offer higher discounts within their contributions should be free to 
do so but the local authority cannot require this. In such cases, whatever discount (as a 
percentage of market value) is given at the first disposal should be the same at each 
subsequent sale. These minimum discounts should apply to the entire local plan area (except 
if Neighbourhood Plans are in place in certain areas) and should not be changed on a site-by-
site basis. 

 
If local authorities or neighbourhood planning groups choose to revise their required 
minimum discounts in any future alterations to their plans, this should not affect the 
minimum discounts required for previously sold First Homes when they come to be resold, as 
these will be bound by the section 106 agreements entered into at the time of their first sale. 

 
Paragraph: 004 Reference ID: 70-004-20210524 

 
 
Paragraph 7 - National eligibility criteria which would apply to all First Homes in Solihull. 
 

First Homes eligibility criteria 
 

Who is eligible to purchase a First Home? 
A purchaser (or, if a joint purchase, all the purchasers) of a First Home should be a first-time 
buyer as defined in paragraph 6 of schedule 6ZA of the Finance Act 2003 for the purposes of 
Stamp Duty Relief for first-time buyers. 

 
Purchasers of First Homes, whether individuals, couples or group purchasers, should have a 
combined annual household income not exceeding £80,000 (or £90,000 in Greater London) in 
the tax year immediately preceding the year of purchase. 

 
A purchaser of a First Home should have a mortgage or home purchase plan (if required to 
comply with Islamic law) to fund a minimum of 50% of the discounted purchase price. 

 
These national standard criteria should also apply at all future sales of a First Home. 

  
Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 70-007-20210524 

 
 
 
Paragraph 8 - Can authorities apply their own eligibility criteria? 

 
As part of the section 106 agreements, local authorities or neighbourhood planning groups 
can apply eligibility criteria in addition to the national criteria described above. This may 
involve lower income caps (if this can be justified with reference to local average first-time 
buyer incomes), a local connection test, or criteria based on employment status. First Homes 
are designed to allow people to get on the housing ladder in their local area, and in 
particular to ensure that key workers providing essential services are able to buy homes in 
the areas where they work. Authorities can therefore prioritise key workers for First Homes, 
and are encouraged to do so, especially if they have an identified local need for certain 
professions. The definition of a key worker should be determined locally and could be any 

Page 14



person who works in any profession that is considered essential for the functioning of a local 
area. 

 
Local connections may include (but are not limited to) current residency, employment 
requirements, family connections or special circumstances, such as caring responsibilities. 
Authorities should consider the application of these discretions carefully and ensure they do 
not limit the eligible consumer base to the point that homes become difficult to sell. 

 
Any locally set income caps should be considered with reference to mortgage requirements 
and loan-to-income ratios for appropriate homes for the area’s identified target market for 
First Homes. Income caps should not be set at a level which would prevent a borrower from 
obtaining a 95% loan-to-value mortgage for the discounted price of suitable properties. 

 
Any local eligibility criteria will apply for a maximum of 3 months from when a home is first 
marketed. If a suitable buyer has not reserved a home after 3 months, the eligibility criteria 
(including income caps) will revert to the national criteria set out above, to widen the 
consumer base. 

 
In recognition of the unique circumstances of the Armed Forces, local connection criteria 
should be disapplied for all active members of the Armed Forces, divorced/separated spouses 
or civil partners of current members of the Armed Forces, spouses or civil partners of a 
deceased member of the armed forces (if their death was wholly or partly caused by their 
service) and veterans within 5 years of leaving the armed forces. 

 
Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 70-008-20210524 

 
  
Paragraph 18 - Is there a transition period for plan-making? 

As set out in the First Homes Written Ministerial Statement of 24 May 2021, local plans and 
neighbourhood plans that have reached advanced stages of preparation will benefit from 
transitional arrangements. Local plans and neighbourhood plans submitted for examination* 
before 28 June 2021, or that have reached publication stage** by 28 June 2021 and 
subsequently submitted for examination* by 28 December 2021, will not be required to 
reflect the First Homes policy requirement. 
  
For areas that do not meet the criteria for transitional arrangements, new development 
plans, including local plans and neighbourhood plans, should take account of the new First 
Homes requirements from 28 June 2021. 
  
*‘submitted for examination meaning: Regulation 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 for Neighbourhood Plans, and Regulation 22 of Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for Local Plans. 
  
** ‘reached publication stage’ meaning: Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations 2012 for Neighbourhood Plans, and Regulation 19 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 for Local Plans. 
  
Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 70-018-20210524 

   

Page 15



Paragraph 19 - Do local planning authorities have to apply the First Homes policy requirements when 
determining planning applications where local or neighbourhood plans have been adopted/made 
under the plan-making transitional arrangements? 

 
As set out in the Written Ministerial Statement, where local and neighbourhood plans are 
adopted under the aforementioned transitional arrangements, the First Homes requirements 
will also not need to be applied when considering planning applications in the plan area until 
such time as the requirements are introduced through a subsequent update. 
  
Planning Inspectors should consider through the examination whether a requirement for an 
early update of the local plan might be appropriate. 
  
Paragraph: 019 Reference ID: 70-019-20210524 

  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes#para018 
 

Page 16

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/0EopC99QAIYBLMOHo2A6K?domain=gov.uk


Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Climate Change, Planning and Housing - 25 October 2022 

First Homes - Appendix B  

AFFORDABLE HOME OWNERSHIP – A SIMPLE GUIDE 

https://www.ownyourhome.gov.uk/all-schemes/ 

Products 1-4 less affordable and suited to those who can meet their needs in the market. 

Products 5 – 10 best for those with lower income/capital to help them access home ownership. 

Name  Brief Description Solihull Affordability 
and identified 
housing need 
Commentary 

1. Mortgage 
Guarantee 
Scheme 

New and existing homes. 
First time buyers and existing home owners. 
Introduced April 2021. To increase the supply of 5% 
deposit mortgages for credit-worthy households.  
Ends 31 December 2022 

Helpful for those with 
a good credit history 
and income, but a 
small deposit.  There 
is a risk that the 
property purchased is 
not sustainable if 
there is a change in 
the household or 
employment 
circumstances. 

2. Equity Loan New build only. 
First time buyers only. 
Can only be used to buy properties with a full 
market value of not more than £255,600 (West 
Midlands) 
No payments on the equity loan for the first 5 years. 
Start to pay interest in year 6 on the equity loan 
amount borrowed. 
Buyers must contribute 80% of the home’s price 
(e.g. minimum 5% deposit and up to 75% mortgage) 
Ends 31 March 2023 

Helpful for those with 
a good credit history 
and income, but a 
small deposit.  There 
is a risk that the 
property purchased is 
not sustainable if 
there is a change in 
the household or 
employment 
circumstances. 

3. First Homes New build only. 
First time buyers only. 
Minimum 30% discount against the market value 
After the discount has been applied, the first sale 
must be at a price no higher than £250,000 (areas 
outside London) 
Government’s preferred discounted market tenure; 
PPG states they should account for at least 25% of 
all affordable housing units delivered by developers 
through planning obligations.  
Replaced ‘Starter Homes’ – see note. 

Identified as an 
Affordable product by 
NPPF (National 
Planning Policy 
Framework).  
Does not meet 
housing needs as 
evidenced by our 
HEDNA (Housing and 
Economic 
Development Needs 
Assessment) due to 
high house prices.  It 
may be more helpful 
in north Solihull.  

Page 17

https://www.ownyourhome.gov.uk/all-schemes/


There is a risk that the 
property purchased is 
not sustainable if 
there is a change in 
the household or 
employment 
circumstances. 

4. Discounted 
Market 

New build but then also available at discount ‘in 
perpetuity’ through resale. 
Defined in the NPPF. Homes sold at a discount of at 
least 20% below local market value. 
‘Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes 
and local house prices. Provisions should be in place 
to ensure housing remains at a discount for future 
eligible households’ 
Local eligibility rules may be agreed and included in 
legal agreements (e.g. local connection) 

Identified as an 
Affordable product by 
NPPF. Does not meet 
our housing needs as 
evidenced by our 
HEDNA due to high 
house prices.  It may 
be more helpful in 
north Solihull.  There 
is a risk that the 
property purchased is 
not sustainable if 
there is a change in 
the household or 
employment 
circumstances. 

5. Shared 
Ownership (New 
Model) 

New build (but also becomes available through 
resale). 
New Homes England model for schemes starting 
from April 2021 
Minimum share for purchase at 10% 
Incremental ‘staircasing’ of 1% to full ownership 
Repair and maintenance liability with provider for 
the first 10 years. 

Identified as an 
Affordable product by 
NPPF. It meets our  
housing needs as 
evidenced by the  
HEDNA.   The product 
also allows 
‘staircasing down’ if 
there is a change in 
the household or 
employment 
circumstances. 

6. Right to Shared 
Ownership 

Gives social tenants access to the new Shared 
Ownership model (see above) 
Applies to all new rented homes delivered through 
the Affordable Homes Programme 2021-26, with 
limited exceptions. 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-
to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-
providers/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-
guidance-for-registered-providers 

This gives all the 
benefits of shared 
ownership as above 
to those living in 
social rented homes 
funded by homes 
England since 1 April 
2021.  It will reduce 
the number of social 
rented dwellings as it 
turns them into 
shared ownership.  
The right does not 
apply to social rented 
homes secured via 

Page 18

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-providers/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-providers/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-providers/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-providers
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-providers/right-to-shared-ownership-initial-guidance-for-registered-providers


Section 106 
agreement. 

7. Home 
Ownership for 
people with Long 
term Disabilities 
(HOLD) 

New and existing homes. 
Shared Ownership purchase of a home on the open 
market for people with a long-term disability who 
are unable to find a new build home which meets 
their specific needs. 
Detailed guidance at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-
guide/1-help-to-buy-shared-ownership#hold  
 

Identified as an 
Affordable product by 
NPPF (National 
Planning Policy 
Framework). Shared 
ownership product 
with built in 
mechanisms for those 
with long term 
disabilities such as 
buying without a 
mortgage (just using 
savings) and/or using 
benefits to fund a 
mortgage.  Helps 
ensure shared 
ownership is available 
for all. 

8. Older persons 
Shared 
Ownership 
(OPSO) 

Shared Ownership available to over-55s.  
Ownership is capped at 75% of the value of the 
home. Once this cap is reached, no rent is payable 
on the remaining share.  
Detailed guidance at 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-
guide/1-help-to-buy-shared-ownership#opso  

Identified as an 
Affordable product by 
NPPF. As above but 
for older persons with 
build in mechanisms 
such as buying 
without a mortgage 
(just using savings) 
and/or using 
benefits/pension 
income to fund a 
mortgage.  Again 
ensures shared 
ownership is available 
for all. 

9. DIYSO Existing homes only. 
Voluntary Local scheme with local rules 

Local authority 
funded therefore 
freedom over scheme 
rules and eligibility.  
Transfers a property 
from open market to 
an affordable home in 
the borough. 

10. Right to Buy Statutory right for secure tenants of 3 years or more 
Discount levels 35% - 70% (houses) and 50% - 70% 
(flats) 
Maximum discount £84,600 

There is a risk that the 
property purchased is 
not sustainable if 
there is a change in 
the household or 
employment 
circumstances. 

 

Page 19

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-guide/1-help-to-buy-shared-ownership#hold
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-guide/1-help-to-buy-shared-ownership#hold
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-guide/1-help-to-buy-shared-ownership#opso
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/capital-funding-guide/1-help-to-buy-shared-ownership#opso


Note 

Starter Homes - specified in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 but secondary 

legislation never enacted to formally introduce them. Replaced by First Homes 

Page 20


	Agenda
	4 First Homes - New affordable housing tenure and local connection criteria
	First Homes - Appendix A..docx
	First Homes - Appendix B - Affordable Home Ownership Guide April 2022..docx


